ANNIVERSARY MEETING

Minutes of the Anniversary Meeting of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, held at 4.00pm, in the Lecture Theatre of the Royal Museum of Scotland, on *Wednesday 30 November 1994*, Dr Richard Fawcett, BA PhD FSA, Vice-President, in the Chair.

The Vice-President, Dr Richard Fawcett, conveyed the President's apologies to the Meeting; he was unable to attend for reasons of health. Apologies had also been received from a number of Fellows. The Minutes of the last Meeting were read and approved. The Scrutineers for the ballots for office-bearers and Fellows, Mr R M Carmichael and Mr P J Ashmore, were appointed and the ballots were closed. The Director read the following:

ANNUAL REPORT

Membership

The Fellowship of the Society now stands at 2860. In the past year 211 Fellows have taken up election, or been reinstated; 32 names have been removed from the Roll due to death, and 104 through lapse of subscription or resignation. There are, at present, 22 Honorary Fellows.

Meetings

The Society has held a full programme of activities through the year. Nine lecture meetings were held between December 1993 and November 1994. In accordance with custom, the session included a Public Lecture, given by Perilla Kinchin, the highly entertaining and informative *Tea and Taste: Glasgow tea rooms* 1875–1975; the other open lecture given during the Science Festival by Mr Roderick McCullagh, *The Lairg Project: the prehistory of a Highland Landscape*, also attracted a large and enthusiastic audience.

In addition to the monthly lectures, the Rhind Lectures took place in April, when Mr Donald Archie MacDonald delivered his lectures on *Oral Narrative in Scotland*. This Rhind series broke new ground in its use of audio- and video- tapes and attracted a discriminating and distinguished audience.

The 1994 Conference – Anglians in Southern Scotland – held in May, was organized jointly by the Society and Patrick Ashmore, Principal Inspector of Ancient Monuments, on behalf of Historic Scotland. There was a larger-than-hoped-for audience, many of whom had been attracted from a considerable distance. Among the many eminent speakers at the conference was Dr Ian Smith who died in July 1994; although it is not intended to publish the proceedings, it is hoped to publish his contribution: 'The structure of Anglian settlements in Southern Scotland'. With the agreement of Council, the surplus from the Conference admission fees was used to subsidize the Seminar held in October 1994 on Post-Reformation gravestones.

Buchan Lectures took place in 1994, in Dundee on 10 March under the auspices of the Abertay Historical Society when Professor Peter Fowler delivered a lecture on Abertay heritage: the global village; on 17 March in Benbecula, when Professor Chris Morris delivered a lecture on Vikings: traders, raiders, settlers? and on 14 September in Kirkwall, Orkney, when Caroline Wickham-Jones delivered a lecture After the Ice: Orkney's first settlers.

The Seminar on *Post-Reformation Gravestones*, was held in October, in association with the National Committee on Carved Stones, in the Glasite Meeting House. Our thanks are due to our retiring Vice-President, Dr Richard Fawcett, Principal Inspector of Ancient Monuments, Historic Scotland, for his major part in the organization of this.

In October, in lieu of the Recent Acquisitions meeting, Fellows were given a detailed presentation on the new Museum of Scotland by Professor Gordon Benson of Benson + Forsyth, Architects, and a presentation on the new exhibitions and a demonstration of MOSAICS by Dr David Clarke and other members of the Museum of Scotland Project team.

In June two thoroughly enjoyable Excursions were held for Fellows, the first on 4 June to Roman sites north of the Antonine Wall, when Dr David Breeze, Chief Inspector of Ancient Monuments for Historic

Scotland, conducted a full complement of appreciative Fellows to Ardoch fort and associated camps, Kaimes Castle and the Gask Ridge. On 18 June, unfortunately, rough weather prevented the boats of our second excursion leaving Anstruther for the visit to the Isle of May. The fall-back visit to St Monans Saltworks, interpretation centre, and Castle, and to Kellie Castle was none the less much appreciated; the Society is most grateful to Peter Yeoman, the Fife Regional Archaeologist (who also lectured to the Society in Edinburgh and Aberdeen on the topic of the Isle of May in place of the advertised lecture in November 1993), and to Heather James, Director of the 1992 and 1993 excavations on the Isle of May, for leading us on this excursion.

The North-East Section

The Section held nine meetings with the same programme as in Edinburgh. This included Peter Yeoman's paper on the Isle of May, in place of the advertised lecture in November 1993. In addition, Gordon Maxwell spoke on *Polygamy and Serendipity in archaeology* following the Section's Annual General Meeting. Meetings were well attended and took place in the new auditorium of the Marischal Museum. Summer excursions were organized to Bennachie, Moray, Arbuthnott and to the Aberdeen Archaeological Unit. Membership of the Section stands at 273.

The Committee for 1993–4 was: Alexandra Shepherd (Chairman), Elizabeth Curtis (Vice-chairman), Neil Curtis (Secretary), John Cruse (Treasurer), Frank Donnelly, Anne Johnstone, Margaret Jubb, Paul Pillath and Graham Steele.

Research Grants

In accordance with Law 1 – 'The purpose of the Society shall be the Study of the ANTIQUITIES AND HISTORY OF SCOTLAND, more particularly by means of archaeological research.' – the grant-aiding of research is considered one of the most important parts of the work of the Society. In 1994 support was given from the General Research Fund, which includes income from the Dorothy Marshall Bequest, to projects covering survey, excavation and post-excavation work.

The following grants were approved from the *General Research Fund* (including investment income from the *Dorothy Marshall Bequest*):

Mr Gordon Barclay, for survey work at Cleaven Dyke; Mr John C Barrett, for excavation at North Pitcarmick; Professor Richard Bradley, for excavation at Balnuaran of Clava, and for the Strathtay Field Survey; Professor Keith Branigan, for work in the Hebrides as part of the SEARCH project; Michael Cressey, survey work on the Mulreesh Earthworks, Phase 2 & 3; Drs B Anne Crone & Coralie Mills, for the Scottish Tree Ring Database; Miss Audrey Henshall and Dr J N Graham Ritchie, for work on chambered cairns in Ross & Cromarty and mainland Inverness-shire; Mrs Frances Hood for the Kintyre Survey: Gigha; Fraser Hunter, for the West Water Survey; Dominic I Ingemark for a survey of Roman glass from non-Roman sites; Paul G Johnson for geophysical survey at Forteviot; A M Jones for work as part of the Orkney Landscape Survey; Mrs J S R Kruuk, for the CSA Church Buildings Survey; Mr G MacGregor for the Buchan long barrow field walking project; Mr Andrew J Pollard for the Risga Shell Midden assessment; Dr Colin Richards for excavation at Stonehall Farm, Orkney; Miss Sarah Tarlow, for the Orkney Graveyard Project; Mr Tam S Ward for the Bastle Project; Mr Peter Yeoman for the Isle of May project.

The following grants were approved from the Angus Graham Bequest:

Dr Ian Armit, for publication of work at Eilean Olabhat; Mr James H Barrett, for work at Robert's Haven; Mr John E Burnett, for research on bowling in Scotland; Mrs Kay F Hartley for research on mortaria in Roman Scotland (to top up the funds available from the *Gunning Jubilee Bequest*); Mr Keith Mitchell (on behalf of Edinburgh Archaeological Field Society) towards the publication of the Fast Castle excavations; Dr Brendan J O'Connor and Mr Trevor Cowie for the preparation of illustrations of MBA dirks and rapiers; Mr Tam S Ward for work at Camps Reservoir; Mrs Betty Willsher for the Scottish Graveyard Survey.

From the George MacDonald Bequest:

Dr David J Woolliscroft for excavations at Garnhall.

In addition to the above, and as a special case, Professor Stephen W Brown was awarded a sum towards the cost of copying the Smellie MSS.

A Young Fellow's Bursary for 1994 was awarded to Dr Ann MacSween to give a paper on Neolithic Pottery from Pool, Orkney, at the Ceramics Heritage Conference, Florence.

The Gunning Jubilee Gift was awarded to Mrs Kay Hartley towards the cost of her visit to museums in Scotland for her researches into Scotlish mortaria; the remainder of the costs are to be met from the Angus Graham Bequest.

Publications

The Proceedings: Volume 122 of the Proceedings was posted out to Fellows in December 1993 and Volume 123 in November 1994.

The Editor, Mr Humphrey Welfare, must be congratulated on his tireless work in preparing articles for publication and ensuring that the *Proceedings* will appear on schedule.

Monograph Series. Sales of Monograph 8, *Altering the Earth*, have exceeded expectations. Monograph 9 – *Howe*, was published in late November; Fellows had been notified of the imminent publication of this. Volumes 1–5 of the Series were offered to Fellows at a reduced price earlier this year.

Newsletter. Two issues were produced and circulated, in February and September. These included papers on topics which had been requested by Fellows.

Govan and its Early Medieval Sculpture: the proceedings of the Govan Conference of 1992 have recently been published; the Society is grateful to Dr Anna Ritchie for her meticulous and tireless work in editing this volume.

The Work of the Society

In addition to the regular and necessary Fellowship affairs, the Society has a wider role in the heritage field and we continue to be regularly consulted on archaeological issues by a wide variety of organizations. The Society continues to be represented on The Ancient Monuments Board for Scotland; The National Trust for Scotland; The Council for British Archaeology; The Council for Scottish Archaeology; The Traprain Law Management Group; The Scottish Field School; The Scottish Wildlife and Countryside Link; Scottish Archaeological Link; The Association for the Protection of Rural Scotland; the National Committee on Carved Stones; the Mouswald Trust; the Dalrymple Trust, and the User Panel of The Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland. The President was invited to participate in discussions on the organization of country-wide support for learned societies at the British Academy.

As always, this aspect of the Society's work draws on a broad range of skills, and members of Council, the Committees, and the other representatives work hard to assist the Director in these matters. Inevitably the President and Treasurer play a major role in the Society's affairs; to them, the other Office Bearers, to the Conveners of the Committees, and all those others who play a part in the complex affairs of the Society, we owe particular thanks.

A working group has been active (with the assistance of the Museum of Scotland Project team) and hopes shortly to commission designs for the Society's contribution to the new Museum of Scotland: a stained glass window. This, as those who attended the Presentation on the Museum of Scotland will be aware, is to be situated in the Founder's Room.

The Society is also co-ordinating fund-raising for the conservation of Volumes 1 & 2 of the William Smellie manuscripts and letters held in the Library; we are most grateful to the National Museums of Scotland Charitable Trust for their generous grant towards the project. Professor Stephen Brown of Peterborough University, Ontario, wrote a fascinating piece in the February 1994 Newsletter highlighting the importance of this material. It is hoped once the letters are conserved to have copies made, in a suitable medium, and the originals re-bound.

The Library

Fellows will be aware from the Newsletter that they must abide by the rules for use of the Library in Queen Street. These rules and the introduction of Fellows' Library cards, obtainable from the Library, have been re-

applied or instituted in the interests of security, by the National Museums of Scotland. Fellows are reminded that a full range of services is available from the Library in Queen Street including a hard copy print-out facility for microfiche. An updated information sheet for newly elected Fellows has been prepared and copies are available on request from the office. As ever we are grateful to Mrs Dorothy Laing and her colleagues for the unstinting help they give to Fellows using the Library and its services.

Administration

There have been no changes in the Office staff since 1992; Mrs Ashmore remains as Director, Mrs June Rowan as Administrative Assistant; Mrs Maureen McLeod as Assistant Treasurer and Dr Stuart Campbell as Monograph Administrator and Computer Advisor. We would remind Fellows that all Staff work part-time and though every attempt is made to ensure 9–5 cover, this is not always possible. Fellows, who are always welcome to visit the office, are therefore advised to ring ahead; please leave messages on the answerphone.

The Office work is considerably eased by the voluntary help provided by Fellows, in particular by Mr Maurice Carmichael who has again been of enormous assistance to the Assistant Treasurer in dealing with Fellowship records and subscriptions. Thanks are due in particular to this year's band of envelope fillers: Mrs Lynne Arnott; Mr M Carmichael; Major Patrick & Mrs Mary Cave-Brown; Miss M E Doull; Mrs J Fleming; Mr H G Ford; Mrs S Grossmith; Miss M R Hilton; Mr G A Hutcheson; Mr R W & Dr Jean Munro; Mrs B J Murray; Mrs MacNeil of Barra; Mr J C Parry; Professor Mary Smallwood; Miss C Sym and Mr G H G Tilling. Thanks are also due to Mr Robin Callender for acting as Chief Scrutineer at the ballots at Anniversary Meetings for the five years from 1988 to 1993.

Finally, thanks are also due to the National Museums of Scotland and those members of the Museum staff who help with bookings and other arrangements, and especially to Mr Grant MacRae who attends meetings as projectionist.

The Treasurer read the following Treasurer's Report

Following on from the increased subscription levels and welcome bequests of the previous year, 1993-4 has been a year of successful financial consolidation as shown by the investment and subscription income. As predicted, the full amount of the bequest from Miss Dorothy Marshall has only become apparent this year, the final figure being £155,166, with consequent major benefit to the Society's assets. In recognition of this gift, the Society has taken the decision to implement the award of a Dorothy Marshall medal, details of which will be made available in due course. An increased expenditure on research grants and lectureships this year to a total of £15,913 is tangible proof of the Society's more secure financial base.

The surplus for the year, excluding gains and losses on investment transactions, amounted to £39,558. This is a significant increase on the previous year, and is much higher than predicted for two main reasons. First, the Deeds of Covenant claims for two fiscal years were received this year. The size of the two claims together should convince all Fellows of the very substantial benefit the Society obtains from Covenants, and will I hope encourage more Fellows to Covenant their own subscription. Secondly, it proved possible to reduce the publication costs of Volume 122 of the *Proceedings* to well below the level anticipated. Taking these factors into consideration, the surplus is a healthy one, given the Society's continuing major commitments to publication and research.

In view of the Society's increased shareholdings, particular consideration was given during the year to their future management. To facilitate continuous management and monitoring of the portfolio, responsibility was transferred in August 1994 to the Bank of Scotland Investment Services on a full discretionary basis. It is expected that the slightly increased costs of this arrangement will be offset by gains in security, capital, and income. This move away from the Society's stockbrokers was for purely financial and administrative reasons, and Michael Balfour-Melville and Torrie & Co must be thanked for valued service and guidance over the previous four years.

The format of the audit report has been changed, to comply with new regulations, and the Treasurer's report is now followed in the accounts by a formal undertaking of the Council's responsibilities as far as financial statements are concerned. As previously, copies of the full accounts including this report are

available to any Fellow on application to the Society's Office, at a cost of £1 in the UK to cover production and postage.

As hoped for, the Society's publication of the 1992 Rhind Lectures by Professor Bradley has been an outstanding success. The sale offer on the first five monographs was also well received, releasing hundreds of copies from storage and putting them on Fellows' bookshelves where they belong. As a result, the balance in the Monograph Fund should sustain the Society's costs for the immediately forthcoming volumes without further subvention from General Funds.

The Society's day-to-day running costs have once again been kept in check, and I thank all the staff, officers, and the North-East Section, particularly their Treasurer, Mr John Cruse, for their help in this. The staff have made many improvements on the administrative front while keeping costs low, for example in the provision of the attractive new Fellowship forms.

The Finance and Administration Committee Convener, Mr Humphrey Holmes, has once again guided the Tresorial team, and I am as ever indebted to the Assistant Treasurer, Mrs Maureen McLeod, helped by Mr Maurice Carmichael, for continuing to administer the Society's financial affairs so effectively.

The Editor then reported on the *Proceedings*. Volume 122 had been posted out prior to the Anniversary Meeting in 1993 and Volume 123 in the week preceding the 1994 Anniversary Meeting. His aim had been to produce the volume earlier in the year; Volume 123 had been ready in September but production problems at the printers and binders, completely outside the control of the Society, had caused delays. He welcomed comment on the *Proceedings* and reminded the Fellowship that although every effort was made to produce balanced volumes, the Society was dependent on the submission of suitable articles; he hoped that Fellows would be pleased with the balance of articles in the latest volume.

President's Address

The Vice-President then addressed the Fellows on behalf of the President. He reiterated the President's apologies, and his sadness at being unable to attend. On behalf of the President he then thanked those working for the Society in all capacities and in particular, the Treasurer, the Director, Administrative Assistant, Assistant Treasurer, Monographs Editor and the Editor.

He noted that the Library was a cause of concern for many Fellows, but the present situation was essentially an enforcement of long-established rules which unfortunately had been made necessary by the irregular behaviour of a Fellow. The Library was a national asset for which the National Museums of Scotland are the custodians; the interests of Fellows would continue to be taken into account. Following the point raised by Fellows at the 1993 Anniversary meeting, the link between the Society and Library would be commemorated by a plaque; this will be displayed in Queen Street and moved to the Library in Chambers Street in due course.

The Dorothy Marshall Bequest: the final payment of this magnificent bequest had been received and the monies will be used as she requested; the list of Research Grants published in the autumn Newsletter and announced in the Director's report identified those projects which had benefited. The Society was to honour her directly, and from General Funds, with the institution of a medal, details of which would be announced in due course.

The Robert B K Stevenson Bequest will be used for an award for a paper in the *Proceedings*; the recipients to be decided by a Committee.

Areas of interest of the Fellowship: the President considered that some Fellows might consider their own interests were not sufficiently represented; this was inevitable in a Society with some 3000 Fellows, but those who would like to encourage pursuits in a particular area were urged to write to the Society in general or directly to the Research, Programme, or Editorial Committees.

The President also thanked the Fellow who had been corresponding on Treacle wells, but unfortunately there was little evidence for such wells in Scotland.

The Vice-President then invited questions on the President's Address and the Annual Reports.

Mr Eric Nicoll expressed his concern that his application on behalf of the Pictish Art Society for a grant towards publication of 'A Pictish Panorama', made in 1994 to the Research Committee (on the understanding that excavation was no longer a prerequisite of such grants), had been unsuccessful; he said

that the Pictish Art Society and its work was well respected and had the support of a number of Fellows and eminent archaeologists, and that the lack of grant-aid had been a great disappointment. He asked for confirmation that it was appropriate to apply to the Research Committee for grant-aid. The Vice-President indicated that the Research Committee, in the first instance, examined all requests for grants and that Mr Nicoll should re-apply to the Research Committee.

Following a request from a Fellow as to whether the Society intended to commission an artist to design the Dorothy Marshall medal, or whether it was intended simply to purchase a ready-made medal, the Director and Treasurer said that the Society fully intended to commission an artist to design the medal and that thought had already been given to the matter.

Dr Breeze, on behalf of the Fellows, thanked those involved in the work of the Society and in particular those involved in the production of the recent publications; the *Proceedings*, the *Howe* monograph and *Govan and its Early Medieval Sculpture*.

The Annual Reports were then adopted on the motion of Dr D J Breeze and seconded by Dr J N G Ritchie.

The Ballots

The Vice-President announced that the ballot for Council had been successful. The Society owed a great debt of gratitude to the retiring Councillors, Mr Carmichael, Mrs Murray, Mr Cowie and Professor Morris, for their hard work over the last three years, not only in Council, but also on the Committees on which they served. He also thanked Mrs Shepherd for her work over the last three years as Chairman of the North-East Section.

He was delighted to announce the election of Ms Naomi Tarrant as Vice-President, and welcomed her and Mrs Valerie Dean, Mr John Dent, Mrs Jane Durham and Mr Michael King as members of Council.

The election for new Fellows had been entirely successful and he was delighted to welcome 195 new Fellows of the Society, and to welcome as Honorary Fellows Professor Alexander Fenton and Professor Leslie Alcock. He paid tribute to their achievements and their work for the Society: Professor Fenton had served as Vice-President from 1979 to 1982 and from 1985 to 1988; Professor Alcock had served as President from 1984 to 1987 and had delivered the Rhind Lectures for 1988–9. He then invited Professor Alcock to receive his Certificate and to address the Fellowship. Professor Alcock expressed his heartfelt thanks; he noted that his name had first appeared in Volume 82, for 1947–8, of the *Proceedings*; he also indicated that he hoped that his Rhind Lectures would soon appear in print in addition to the synopsis printed in Volume 118 of the *Proceedings*.

Council for 1994-5 comprises:

PRESIDENT: Gordon S Maxwell MA FSA

VICE-PRESIDENTS: Charles J Burnett, KStJ DA AMA

Ross Herald of Arms

Barbara E Crawford, MA PhD FSA Naomi E A Tarrant, BA AMA

TREASURER: Alan Saville, BA FSA MIFA

EDITOR: Humphrey Welfare, BA MPhil FSA MIFA

COUNCILLORS: George Dalgleish, MA

Professor Michael Lynch, MA PhD FRHistS Ann MacSween, MA MA PhD AIFA

Peter Yeoman, MA MIFA Nicholas Dixon, MA PhD

Doreen Grove, BA Colin C Richards, BA. Neil G Taverner, BDS Valerie E Dean. John S Dent, BA MPhil FSA MIFA Jane M S Durham. Michael D King, MA AMA

EX OFFICIO:

Chairman of North East Section

Elizabeth Curtis, MA

Publications Convener

J N Graham Ritchie, MA PhD MBA FSA

Research Convener

Alan Saville, BA FSA MIFA

Finance & Administration Convener

Humphrey M Holmes, CA

Heritage Convener

Fionna M Ashmore, BA

Representative to the Ancient

W David H Sellar, BA LLB FRHistS

Monuments Board of Scotland

David V Clarke, BA PhD FSA

Representative of the National Museums of Scotland

The Following were elected Fellows:

MRS DINA MAY ADAMSON, BEd. 9 Broomyknowe, Colinton, Edinburgh.

MS PATRICIA FRANCES ALLAN, BSc MA PGCE. The Police House, Nethybridge, Inverness-shire.

STUART WILLIAM ALLAN, MA. 170 Montgomery Street, Edinburgh.

JAMES ANDERSON, BSc MIQA. 8 Dunlop Crescent, Bothwell, Glasgow.

MR RICHARD ANDERSON, Advocate LLB CA. 2 Nicolson Square, Edinburgh.

MRS NORMA APPLEN, 3308 West 132nd Street, Burnsville, MN 55337, USA.

DR ALAN JOHN BARNARD, BA MA PhD. 37 Newington Road, Edinburgh.

JAMES JOHN BEATON, MA DipLib ALA. Flat 2R, 138 Fergus Drive, Glasgow.

PROFESSOR DONALD JAMES IAN BEGG, AMus BA MA PhD. Rr1, St Thomas, Ontario, N5P 3S5, Canada.

RICHARD THOMAS BELL, 8407 Corteland Drive, Knoxville, TN 37909, USA.

JAMES ALEXANDER BINGHAM, 43 Anderson Crescent, Queenzieburn, Kilsyth.

THE REVEREND GIBSON KENNEDY BOATH, BA. 6 Woodlands Place, Kilmarnock, Ayrshire.

MRS ELIZABETH JEAN BOYD, MA. 3 St Anne's Wynd, Newtonhill, Stonehaven, Kincardineshire.

DAVID STOPFORD BROOKE, MA. 767 North Hoosac Road, Williamstown, Massachusetts 01267, USA.

IAN DURNO BROWN, CEng FICE MIWES FBIM. 214 Countesswells Road, Aberdeen.

JOHN BUCHANAN VINCENT BROWN, DLE FRICS FSVA. Loudoun Cottage, 7 Barnshot Road, Edinburgh.

NIGEL RICHARD BROWN, BA MIFA FSA. 14 The Chase, Boreham, Chelmsford, Essex.

MS EILEEN CAMPBELL BROWNLIE, LLB. 24 Dean Park Mews, Edinburgh.

DR M JANE BUNTING, BA PhD. 96 Mill Road, Wells-Next-The-Sea, Norfolk.

PAUL BURNS, LLB. 17 Winton Drive, Glasgow.

ROBERT RUSSELL CALDER, MA. 23 Glenlee Street, Burnbank, Hamilton, Lanarkshire.

JOHN CAMPBELL-KEASE, CEng FIMechE. 8 Ferryfield Road, Connel, Oban, Argyll.

DONALD GELETTE CANADAY, Sr. 520 Harrison Avenue, Cambridge, OH 43725-1472, USA.

JAMES GRANT CARSON, MA DipEd. 132 Woodstock Avenue, Shawlands, Glasgow,

MS EMMA ROSE CARVER, BA. 18 Buckingham Terrace, Edinburgh.

PROFESSOR MARTIN OSWALD HUGH CARVER, BSc FSA. Department of Archaeology, University of York, Micklegate House, York.

LT COL DUNCAN DUNBAR CHAPLIN, III, USMC(Ret) MA BS. Snackerty, Rfd2, Box 668, Center Barnstead, NH 03225-9103, USA. .

ROBERT JACK CHAYNE, 3749 Ventura Place, Orlando, Fl 32822, USA.

MRS FIONA CHRISTISON, 11 Beaufort Road, Edinburgh.

MS FIONA HELEN CHRYSTALL, BSc. 13 Scott Court, Alva, Clackmannanshire.

DR THOMAS OWEN CLANCY, BA PhD. 51 Salisbury Road – Tfr, Edinburgh.

PAUL CLARK, 60 Morvik Vegen, 5085 Morvik, Bergen, Norway.

DR ROLAND ARTHUR CLARK, MB ChB BSc MRCP FRCP. 4 Lawhead Road East, St Andrews,

TIM CLARKSON, BA MPhil. Joule Library, UMIST, PO Box 88, Manchester.

DAVID CLOUGH, BSc. Kilmartin House, Kilmartin, Lochgilphead, Argyll.

MRS RACHEL CLOUGH, BA. Kilmartin House, Kilmartin, Lochgilphead, Argyll.

DONALD EVAN COGHILL, Airdliosta, Drumchardine, Kirkhill, Inverness.

IAIN ALEXANDER COLLIE, 6 Park Court, Beith, Ayrshire.

DR ROGER JOHN HOWARD COLLINS, MA DLitt FRHistS. 12A Ravelston Park, Edinburgh.

KENNETH CHARLES COOPER, Mill of Culsh, Tarland, Abovne, Aberdeenshire.

MARK RUSSELL COTTON, 132 Garthdee Road, Aberdeen.

ALAN ROBERT CRAWFORD, Ar Dachaidh, Bank Street, Cupar, Fife.

MRS KATHLEEN WILSON CROOKS, 2564 Mockingbird Drive, Sierra Vista, Arizona 85635-3421, USA.

CHRISTOPHER JOHN CROWE, BA DipAdEd MA AIFA. 46 Vincent Street, Macclesfield, Cheshire.

DAVID TERENCE CROWE, LLB WS NP. Blackleebrae, Bonchester Bridge, Hawick, Roxburghshire.

LT ROGER STAFFORD CURTIS, Admiral's Office, Maritime Headquarters, Pitreavie, Fife.

THOMAS CUTHBERT, 31 Dechmont Road, Edinburgh.

DR IAIN FRANCIS WILLIAM KNOWLES DAVIDSON, MA EdB PhD. 177 Spital, Aberdeen.

MISS MARGUERITE ABERCROMBY DE LA POER, 1010 5th Avenue – Apt 9G, New York, NY 10021, USA.

ADRIAN PHILIP SPENCER DE REDMAN, 91 Weoley Castle Road, Birmingham.

RT REV ALBERT DE RUIJTER, DSO DFC KGOT. 36 Litle Denny Road, Denny, Stirlingshire.

MISS LESLEY ANN DORWARD, MA. Woodlea, Rosalee Brae, Hawick.

MISS LOUISE ALISON DORWARD, MA. 31 Hyndland Road, Glasgow.

MATTHEW DUCKETT, St Andrew's Rectory, 119 London Road, Romford, Essex.

OWEN DUDLEY EDWARDS, BA FRHistS. 5 Braefoot Terrace, Edinburgh.

MRS JENNIFER C N FAULDS, The Manse, Gullane, East Lothian.

MS RUTH FISHKIN, BA. 7 Strathaven Terrace (Top), Breadalbane Street, Oban, Argyll.

MS SHEILA FORBES. 1 Dublin Meuse, Edinburgh.

NEIL REID FORD. 64 Loch Loyal, St Leonards, East Kilbride, Glasgow.

IAN ANDREW FORSHAW, BSc. Hazel Villa, Marybank Grove, Lamington, Invergordon.

PATRICK JULIAN FOSTER, BA. 89 Greystones Road, Sheffield.

DOUGLAS P FRASER, ASEE. 520 Pine Avenue, Space 65, Goleta, CA 93117, USA.

MS FLORA MACDONALD GAMMON, BSc. 29 Woodbine Acres, Waynesville, NC 28786, USA.

MRS MARGARET ANNE GARDINER, BA. Rigghead, Foulpapple Road, Newmilns, Ayrshire.

PROFESSOR DR SABINE GERLOFF. Seminar Für Ur-u. Frühgeschichte, Universität, Kochstr. 4, D-91054, Erlangen, Germany.

GARROD MCAVOY GIBB. 22 Unity Terace, Perth.

GEORGE MARK FLEMINGTON GILLON, FRICS. 19 Bereweeke Way, Winchester, Hampshire.

MYLES D GODDARD, JR, MA MA. 2230 S. 13Th Avenue, Broadview, II 60153-4040, USA.

JOHN WILLIAM GOODER, BA MA. 5 Queen Street, Inverkeithing, Fife.

JEREMY ALEXANDER GORDON, LLB. 24 Clerk Street, Edinburgh.

THE RT HON JOANNA CLODAGH GORDON, BA, Countess of Haddo. 22 Beauclerc Road, London.

CHARLES WILLIAM GRAHAM, JR. 2792 Redwing Circle, Costa Nesa, CA 92626, USA.

DR MICHAEL CHARLES GRANT DE LONGUEUIL, MB BS. 141 Woodthorpe Drive, Nottingham.

DR IAIN FRASER GRIGOR, BA MPhil DipEd PhD. 18 Holyrood Crescent, Glasgow.

MRS MERLE DENISE GRINLY, Jp Dipfhs. 4 Clune Street, Oxley, Q'ld 4075, Australia.

DR TORQUIL IAIN GUNN-GRAHAM, BA PhD. Department of History of Art, University of Aberdeen, Powis Gate, Old Aberdeen.

MRS A MARY HANSON, BA DipEd. The Green, Merchiston Castle School, 294 Colinton Road, Edinburgh.

MISS RACHEL HARRY, BA. Flat 1/L, 30 Lansdowne Crescent, Glasgow.

LYNN R M HAWKINS, BA. Killyman, 1172 Weaver Branch Road, Bluff City, TN 37618, USA.

DR LEONARD HENDERSON, KStJ(Scrivener) MA PhD DMus HonDD FRCO. 32 Bourne Avenue, Southgate, London.

EDWIN H HENRY, 1158 Rockstone Lane, St Paul, MN 55112-1614, USA.

DESMOND WILLIAM HILL HODGES, OBE FRIAS. 14 Shandon Street, Edinburgh.

JEREMY RICHARD HOOKER, NDD DesRCA. 1 Manse Road, Carrington, Gorebridge, Midlothian.

MS JANET HOOPER, BA MPhil. c/o Dept of Archaeology, The University, Glasgow

DOUGLAS HOSIE, JP MEd ADIPSe MSc. 17 Ashburnham Gardens, South Queensferry, West Lothian.

WILLIAM JOSEPH HOWARD, Old Schoolhouse, Kirktron of Bourtie, Inverurie, Aberdeenshire.

DAVID MCINTYRE HUNTER, 26 Main Street, Dailly, Girvan, Ayrshire.

BRIAN WALLACE HUTCHISON, BCoMM CMA CG. 908-34Th Street S.E., Calgary, Alberta, Canada.

DAVID LOVELL ERIC JAMIESON, ARIBA ARIAS. 26 Riversdale Grove, Edinburgh.

ANDREW CHARLES CARTER JOHNSON, BA. The Asters, Tynwald Road, Peel, Isle Of Man.

PAUL GILROY JOHNSON, Department of Archaeology, The University, Glasgow.

WILLIAM HOLLEY JOHNSTON, MBE. PO Box 1555, Buford, GA 30518, USA.

ANDREW JONES, BSc. Department of Archaeology, The University, Glasgow.

GORDON EDWARD KENNEDY, 17271 Via Carmen, San Lorenzo, CA 94580-2611, USA.

DAVID ALEXANDER KERR, Gowrie House, Crieff, Perthshire.

ALLAN KEITH KILPATRICK, BSc. Clachnacroit, Gairs Croft, Conon Bridge, Dingwall, Ross-shire.

MS MARY ELIZABETH ARTHUR KING, DCE. 3A Edward Drive, Helensburgh, Dunbartonshire.

MRS DINAH LEE KLEMMEDSON, Route #1, Box 325, Blair, Wiconsin 54616, USA.

MRS DOROTHY CAMPBELL LAING, BA DipLib. 1/9 South Beechwood, Edinburgh.

DR D LAMB, BSc MBBS PhD FRCPath ARPS. 17 Dalhousie Terrace, Edinburgh.

STEPHEN GEOFFREY LANE, 47 Union Street, Chipping Barnet, Hertfordshire.

ROBERT LAUCHLAN, MBE JP. Cedarwood, 8 King Street, Kilwinning.

MS AUDREY ELEANOR LEE, BD. 11/5 Glenalmond Court, Edinburgh.

GORDON LESLIE, 46 St Baldred's Road, North Berwick, East Lothian.

JOSEPH W LINDSAY-HAYLE, 611 Collins Drive, Tallahassee, Fl 32303, USA.

DR NORMAN LOGAN, MB ChB MEPHM DRCOG DPH DPA. 53 Holmlea Road, Glasgow.

BENEDICT JAMES LOWE, BA. c/o Dept of Classics, University of Edinburgh, David Hume Tower, George Square, Edinburgh.

JOHN PATRICK LOWREY, MA. 85 Newhaven Road, Edinburgh.

JAMES D MCAFEE, BA MA. 7501 Hickory Ridge, Mt Juliet, TN 37122, USA.

IVAN ARTHUR MACARTHUR, 2616 Carambola Circle N, Coconut Creek, Fl 33066, USA.

MRS SYBIL ANNE MACAULAY, MA. 3 Annfield Road, Inverness.

DR STEPHEN MCCABE, MB ChB MRCGP. 21 Abbotsford Terrace, Darnick, Melrose, Roxburghshire.

DR JUDITH MCCLURE, MA DPhil. 12A Ravelston Park, Edinburgh.

ALAN GRAY MACDONALD, BSME MBA PE, 15572 View Ridge Lane, Granada Hills, CA91344, USA.

DONALD ARCHIE MACDONALD, MA. Leapark, Roslin Glen, Roslin, Midlothian.

E BRUNDAGE MACDONALD, Box 417, 74-7th Street, Trenton, Nova Scotia, BOK 1XO, Canada.

MS IONA MACDONALD, Sashal M¢r Ostaig, Teangue, Sleat, Isle of Skye.

DR JAMES RODERICK MACDONALD, BA MA PhD. 3459 Springmoor Circle, Raleigh, NC 27615, USA.

ARCHIBALD CLAIR MACDONELL, UE. Beaverview Farm, Rr#1, Williamstown, Ontario, Canada.

REV ANNE MARION MACFADYEN, BSc SDDH BD. 295 Mearns Road, Newton Mearns, Glasgow.

KEITH RATTRAY MACFARLANE, 96 Main Road, St James, Cape 7945, South Africa.

ANGUS NEIL MACINNES, Ashford, Upper Glenfinlas Street, Helensburgh.

MRS FRANCES MARGARET MCKELVIE, MA. 43 Rubislaw Park Crescent, Aberdeen.

COLIN SCOTT MACKENZIE, DL BL. 3 Bells Road, Lerwick, Shetland.

IAIN FERGUSON MACLAREN, MB ChB FRCS FRCS. 3 Minto Street, Edinburgh.

GLEN MCLAUGHLIN, MBA. 14016 Camino Barco, Saratoga, CA 95070-5661, USA.

DR JAMES G MACLEAN, PhD. Kreuzstrasse 70, Bad Neuenahr 53474, Germany.

THE HON LORD RANALD NORMAN MUNRO MACLEAN, BA LLB LLM. 38 Royal Terrace, Edinburgh,

RODERIC NOEL MCLEAN, BA. 5 Sandalwood, Aliso Viejo, CA 92656, USA.

DOUGLAS GILL MACLEAN MACLEOD, 5 Springbank, Leeds.

NEIL GRANT MACLEOD, BSc MEd AFIMA. 6 Kirkland Grove, Johnstone, Renfrewshire.

DR RODERICK IAIN MACLEOD, BDS PhD FDSRCS. Larchwood, Lintonbank Drive, West Linton, Peeblesshire.

SEAN P MCNAMARA, 10 Barbours Park, Stewarton, Ayrshire.

DUNCAN CURDIE MACSPORRAN, 6 Northbank Road, Cairneyhill, Fife.

DR LOUISE MAGUIRE, MA PhD. Department of Archaeology, University of Edinburgh, 16/20 George Square, Edinburgh.

HARRINGTON E MANVILLE, MA FRNS FANS. 4509 49th Street, NW, Washington DC 20016-4344, USA.

MADAME NICOLE CLAUDE MARC, 2 Rue De La Sabliére, La Bretéchelle, 78370 - Plaisir, France.

MRS JENNIFER ELIZABETH MARSHALL, DA. Mill Cottage, Cunninghamhead, Kilmarnock.

GEORGE ANTHONY MAXWELL, Craigie Knowes, Rockcliffe, Kirkcudbrightshire.

RORY PATRICK MCDONALD, MA. 13 Minto Place, Hawick, Roxburghshire.

JOHN ERNEST MELVILLE, 3 Maryfield, Balcurvie Road, Windygates, Fife.

NEIL RICHARD METCALFE, BMus. School House, Loretto, Musselburgh.

KEVIN WILLIAM PETER MILLER, BSc MSc. Magdalene College, Cambridge.

PROFESSOR HENRYK MINC, MA PhD. 4076 Naranjo Drive, Santa Barbara, CA 93110, USA.

COLM JAMES MOLONEY, BA. 32 Comely Bank Avenue, Edinburgh.

MRS REBECCA HELENA MOLONEY, BA. 32 Comely Bank Avenue, Edinburgh.

DR ULRIKE MORÉT, National Library of Scotland, George IV Bridge, Edinburgh.

MRS SUSAN MOWAT, 49 Grieve Street, Dunfermline, Fife.

WILLIAM JOHN GRAY MUIR, BA ACA. c/o Baring Brothers, 20 Raffles Place, #14-04 Ocean Tower, Singapore 0104.

MURDO ALEXANDER NICOLSON, 3 Martin Crescent, Portree, Isle of Skye.

GARRET JOHN O'BRIEN, The Nest, Jedburgh.

PATRICK PERIE, 114 Rue Du Mont D'Arene, 51100 Reims, France.

HUGH MILLAR PESKETT, 1 Avenue Road, Winchester.

JOHN PICKIN, BA. Stranraer Museum, George Street, Stranraer.

JOHN JAMES POWELL, 7 Hazel Place, Leslie, Fife.

FREDERIC J PRATT, PO Box 2209, Port Arausas, Texas 78373, USA.

LT COL (RET) JAMES THOMAS PRICE, BA MA MMAS JD. 4611 Kilborne Road, Columbia, SC 29206, USA.

GERARD QUAIL, DA. 118 Byres Road, Glasgow.

DR ANITA QUYE, BSc PhD CCHEM MRSC. National Museums of Scotland, Chambers Street, Edinburgh.

BRUCE CAMERON REEVES, AB AB JD. Reeves, Seidler & Howell, 2527 Santa Clara Avenue, Alameda, CA 94501, USA.

DONALD LEES REID, BA. 7 Manuel Avenue, Beith, Ayrshire.

ALISTAIR BRYAN ROACH, MILAM FRSA. Smalldean Farm Cottage, Lacey Green, Bucks.

JAMES ROONEY, 2 Geary Street, Glasgow.

RONALD ROTCHFORD, 32 Melville Gardens, Bishopbriggs, Glasgow.

DAVID KENNETH RYAN, BA. 4 Blair Road, Dalry, Ayrshire.

MS ELIZABETH JANE RYDER, MA. 26 Nelson Street, Edinburgh.

MS SUSAN E SEARIGHT, Tigh An Aigh, High Street, Rosemarkie, Ross-shire.

MRS IRENE PATRICIA SMITH, 35 Pearce Avenue, Edinburgh.

PAUL B SMITH, BA MPhil. 3/3, 243 Langlands Road, Govan, Glasgow.

ROBERT JOHNSTON SMITH, MA. 25 Coltness Road, Wishaw, Lanarkshire.

WILLIAM NIVEN SPENCE, Cairndale, 69 Forehill Road, Ayr.

BRIAN CLAYTON TAIT, CA. Durisdeer, 126 Barnton Park Avenue, Edinburgh.

BARRY JOHN FREDERICK THEOBALD-HICKS, OStJ OLJ FRSA MBIM CertSM. Greenview, 22 Goat Road, Mitcham, Surrey.

PROFESSOR ALAN THOMPSON, MA PhD FRSA. 11 Upper Gray Street, Edinburgh.

CHARLES M THOMSON, 1660 North Main Street, Orange, CA 92667-3405, USA.

BRIAN DAVID TITCOMB, Glendhu, Shore Road, Kilcreggan, Dunbartonshire.

RONAN TOOLIS, MA. 3F2, 12 Braid Road, Edinburgh.

DAVID DREVER TOWRIE, Clickimin, Burness, Sanday, Orkney.

RICHARD L TRISKA, OStJ BA MBA. Po Box 1597, Houston, Texas 77251-1597, USA.

DR JOHN DUNCAN GORDON TROUP, PhD DSc MRCP. Kirkton House, Cairnie, Huntly, Aberdeenshire.

MRS PAMELA JILL TURNBULL, BA. 12 Strathearn Place, Edinburgh.

JAMES WILLIAM TURNER, ERD CEng OLJ FInstPet FInstE FITD. Invercannie House, Banchory, Grampian.

WILLIAM FULTON WALKER, BL SSC. Kerrshaw, 150 Glasgow Road, Paisley.

PHILIP WALLACE, BA DipCons. 9 (2F1) Lyne Street, Abbeyhill, Edinburgh.

TIMOTHY MARTIN WALSH, 55 Headland Court, Aberdeen.

BARBARA WATSON, PO Box 60811, St Petersburg, Fl 33784-0811, USA.

DR JOHN R WATTS, MA MSc PhD FRSA. 37 Blackburn Road, Addiewell, West Lothian.

DR JANE WEBSTER, BA PhD. Arcus - Research School of Archaeology, 156 Broomspring Lane, Sheffield.

CAPT THOMAS PAUL WESTGAARD, USAF(Ret) BGS NN NSC MPT. Po Box 21745, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53221-0745, USA.

ROBERT SCOTT WILL, MA. 25 St James's View, Penicuik, Midlothian.

DR THORNE SHERWOOD WINTER, III, MD. 3553 Cochise Drive, NW, Atlanta, GA 30339, USA.

DAVID JOHN WISE, BA PGCE. 18 Haldane Street, Ashington, Northumberland.

ARTHUR JOHN RICHARD WOOD, MA CertEd CertArchaeol MIFA. c/o The Old School, High Street, Clachnaharry, Inverness.

MS MARILYN COCHRANE WRIGHT, 2309 SW 1st #441, Portland, Oregon 97201, USA.

JOHN HAYWARD YOUNG, BSc DipIT. 299 Bonnyton Drive, Eaglesham, Glasgow.

Honorary Fellows

The Following were elected as Honorary Fellows under Law 5:

Emeritus Professor Leslie Alcock, MA FSA FRHistS FSA Scot.

29 Hamilton Drive, Glasgow.

Professor Alexander Fenton, CBE MA BA DLitt HonDLitt FRSE FSA FSA Scot.

132 Blackford Avenue, Edinburgh.

The Roll

The record of the deaths of the following Fellows intimated during the year 1993-4 was not read at the meeting:

	Elected
Samuel Gilchrist Blair Alexander, Marchbank, Fenwick, Kilmarnock, Ayrshire.	1985
Kenneth Paxton Anderson, BSc, MRCVS, 16 Ladysneuk Road, Cambuskenneth, Stirling.	1977
Lionel M Angus-Butterworth, MA, The Old Hall Hotel, The Square, Buxton, Derbyshire.	1926

Mice Many Ameld DA 9 Montaglian Edinburgh	1050
Miss Mary Arnold, BA, 8 Montpelier, Edinburgh.	1952 1948
Professor R J C Atkinson, MA, FSA, Warren House, Mountain Road, Pentyrch, Cardiff.	
George Bruce, FEIS, 3 Rosewood Terrace, Westpark Road, Dundee.	1948
Neil MacDonald Catchpole, DA, 9 Menzieshill Road, Dundee.	1980
William Stewart Dykes, MB, ChB, DA, FFARCS, 13 Ralston Road, Glasgow.	1970
Marcus Felix Brudenell Fitch, CBE, DLitt, FSA, FRHistS, 21 Avenue de Bude, 1202	
Geneva, Switzerland.	1965
S H Fulford, BA, 100 Caesar Avenue, Carnoustie, Angus.	1988
William George Nicholson Geddes, 17 Beechlands Avenue, Glasgow.	1971
John Greig, MA, Arnots Dron, St Andrews, Fife.	1971
Mrs Joan Barbara Grigor, MA, DipEd, 2 Bank Street, Inverkeithing, Fife.	1981
Alan Hall, 14 Birney Edge, Ponteland, Newcastle upon Tyne.	1966
Stephen Bruce Hay, Falcon Stone, 7 Orchard Park, Crieff, Perthshire.	1991
Professor Michael G Jarrett, BA, PhD, FSA, University College, PO Box 78, Cardiff.	1978
Robert Humphrey Kneale, III, BS, 3503 Chatsworth Street, Shoreview, Minnesota	
55126, USA.	1988
Reverend P H R MacKay, 1 Dirleton Road, North Berwick.	1948
Reverend Neil Beresford Mash, DivTest, FRGS, 9 Pit Lane, Swaffham, Norfolk.	1971
Sidney Richards Maxwell, DC, AAS, 212 Shuler Drive, Kingsport, TN 37664, U S A.	1987
Miss Katherine Margaret Richardson, MA, FSA, 2/5 Fettes Rise, East Fettes Avenue,	
Edinburgh.	1975
John Rae Ridgway, RFP, JP, The Old Schoolhouse, Kirbister, Orphir, Orkney.	1990
Mrs F J Root, MA, Hallands, Pathfield Close, Haslemere, Surrey.	1930
Col Howard H Ross, 5430 South 5th Street, Arlington, VA 22204, U S A.	1992
James Petrie Shepherd, MA, 14 East Fettes Avenue, Edinburgh.	1965
Ian Mervyn Smith, BA, PhD, RCAHMS, John Sinclair House, 16 Bernard Terrace,	1705
Edinburgh.	1981
Professor John Kenneth Sinclair St Joseph, CBE, MA, ScD, LLD, DLitt, FBA,	1701
FSA, Selwyn College, Cambridge.	1945
Professor William E Swinton, DSc, PhD, DLitt, FRSE, 276 St George Street, Toronto,	1943
Ontario, Canada.	1951
	1931
Mrs Margaret Hannah Cornish Veitch, Sea View, St James Green, Southwold, Suffolk.	
Frank Maxwell Wilson, MRST, 53 Parsonage Gardens, Enfield, Middx.	1990
William Christie Wright, BL, 4 The Pillars, Dornoch, Sutherland.	1974
James Kirkness Yorston, 39 Victoria Street, Stromness, Orkney.	1987

The Vice-President then welcomed and introduced Dr David Caldwell who read the following Communication:

Following the Lecture, the Treasurer asked Fellows to join him in thanking the now retired Vice-President, Dr Richard Fawcett, for his work for the Society over the last three years and especially for chairing the Anniversary Meeting.

A Reception for Fellows then followed in the Bird Hall.

^{&#}x27;West Highland Houses 1200-1600: the evidence from Finlaggan'.

Instructions for Contributors to these *Proceedings*

Papers and shorter notes are invited on all aspects of the archaeology and history of Scotland.

In order to be considered for the next annual volume of these *Proceedings*, completed typescripts and illustrations must be sent to The Editor, The Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, The National Museums of Scotland, York Buildings, Queen Street, Edinburgh EH2 1JD, to arrive no later than 30 November each year. Prospective contributors are urged to consult the Editor as early as possible in the preparation of their work. (Those considering the preparation of a monograph should write to the Monographs Editor at the same address.)

Contributions (two copies) must be typed on one side of A4 paper, with double spacing throughout (including notes and references), wide margins and full pagination. If possible, the hard copy should be accompanied by a disk; this can significantly reduce costs and errors. The operating system (DOS, Apple etc) and the software used should be clearly marked on the disk, together with the author's name and an abbreviated title. An ASCII file copy would be appreciated.

Papers will be acceptable only if they are submitted in their *final* form. Drafts will not be considered. The Society does not accept responsibility for the safety of texts, disks, and illustrations submitted. Contributors are urged to keep an exact copy of each item.

Each paper should be preceded by an Abstract of no more than 200 words.

Papers which contained extensive appendices, tables, or specialist reports, have been published, in part, on microfiche. Authors are warned that the Society is likely to end the use of this medium in the near future. Please ask the Editor whether this service is still available. Only camera-ready material can be accepted. Very careful consideration should be given to the question of which material should be presented in the printed text, or on microfiche, and which should be deposited in a public archive. Contributors who are uncertain of the course that they ought to follow should consult the Editor at an early stage.

Acknowledgements. Authors are responsible for obtaining written permission for the reproduction of copyright material and for paying any fees due. The appropriate acknowledgement must be given. Those considering the redrawing or reproduction of portions of Ordnance Survey maps must consult the OS Copyright section.

Proofs. Authors will be sent one set of proofs only; authors will bear the cost of any significant or substantial changes to the text at proof stage.

Offprints. Authors are entitled to 24 free offprints of their paper. More copies can be ordered at proof stage.

At or before submission, each author should advise the Editor if their paper may attract a grant for publication. Authors are urged to make every effort to obtain such a grant from an appropriate source.

STYLE

Please ensure that the text, the illustrations, and the references all conform to the style of the latest volume of these *Proceedings*.

Headings within the text should be restricted to a hierarchy of no more than three grades. These should be clearly indicated in the margin of the typescript (A, B, C).

Dimensions shall be given in metric units (eg 1 km, 6 m, 48 mm). Please note the spacing. As a general guide, millimetres should be used as the unit where the original measurement has been made in millimetres; for larger sizes and distances use metres. Centimetres should not be used. Imperial units may be quoted from earlier sources but the metric equivalents must also be given (in brackets).

Radiocarbon dates should be cited in their uncalibrated form, with the error at one standard deviation (eg 1530±70 BC uncal), with full details of their laboratory reference numbers. The international convention BP should not be used by itself. Any calibration exercise must be fully explained and referenced.

A National Grid Reference must be given for each archaeological site or historic building that is central to the content of a paper.

Footnotes will not be used, but numbered notes that expand on points that would lie uncomfortably in the text may be listed at the end of the article.

REFERENCES

The Harvard system (author, date, page), set within the text, is preferred and should always be used when the majority of the references are to published books or articles. Numbered end-notes may, however, be used for articles on historical topics in which the references are predominantly to documentary material. Every manuscript referred to must be given its full reference number, assigned by its repository, including the folio or page number.

In either system, standard historical reference works may be referred to by their abbreviated titles (eg Acts Parl Scot), in the form given in the supplement to the Scottish Historical Review, 42 (1963). All such abbrevations must be expanded in the list of references that must be set out at the end of each article, whichever system is used. Abbreviations of journals should conform to the style listed in Signposts for Archaeological Publication (3rd edn 1991), published by the Council for British Archaeology, to the style of the British Archaeological Bibliography, or to the list in Scott Hist Rev, 42 (1963). The names of foreign journals should be given in full.

Examples of the correct form of each reference system may be found in volume 118, pages 285–7 (running notes), and volume 119, pages 27–31, 223–36 (Harvard).

ILLUSTRATIONS

Line drawings and photographs must be of the highest quality and must be submitted in their final form, in the correct proportion for reduction within the maximum space available: 190×140 mm. (It would greatly assist the Editor if those who are able to do so would submit reduced versions of their drawings initially.) Titles should not be within a drawing but should be included in the caption, for which an allowance of space must be made. Because of their expense, fold-outs will not be accepted unless prior permission has been given. A metric scale must be included on each drawing. Areas to be cropped from photographs should be indicated on a transparent overlay. Particular care must be taken to ensure clarity and legibility after reduction, especially that of lettering.

Sub-standard illustrations will certainly be returned for revision; a paper with poor illustrations may not be accepted for publication.

All illustrations within an article, whether drawings or photographs, will be numbered in sequence, eg Illus 5. Captions should be printed in a list separate from the text.